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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Good morning.

          3  The Committee on Consumer Affairs will hold a first

          4  hearing on Intro. No. 968, a proposal which would

          5  expand the definition of who may hold a license to

          6  operate a newsstand to include corporations,

          7  partnerships, limited liability companies and other

          8  associations. Intro. 968 would also raise the

          9  maximum permitted selling price of non-printed

         10  materials to five dollars, allow prepaid

         11  telecommunication and transit cards to be sold, and

         12  prohibit sale of certain items at any price.

         13                 In 1997, as part of the Street Scape

         14  Task Force recommendations to develop a coordinated

         15  street furniture franchise, we adopted changes to

         16  the Newsstand Licensing Law to award newsstand

         17  businesses as concessions.

         18                 In 1998, when the recommendations

         19  were not fully instituted, the Council repealed

         20  those changes.  Recently, the newsstand industry has

         21  shown interest in adopting some of those measures.

         22                 The Committee will also vote on

         23  Proposed Intro. No. 821-A, legislation which would

         24  adjust the fees collected by tow operators who

         25  remove vehicles under the DARP and Rotow Programs.
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          2                 Under the Rotow Program, the fees

          3  allowed to be charged by tow operators have been

          4  unchanged for 11 years.

          5                 Under DARP towing fees were capped

          6  four years ago. Since our first hearing, the

          7  Proposed Intro. has been amended lowering the rate

          8  increases for certain types of vehicles under both

          9  programs.

         10                 And before we, is there anybody here

         11  that would like to testify on the Towing Bill?

         12                 Okay, I would like to vote on

         13  Proposed Intro. No. 821-A at this time.  Please call

         14  the roll.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Koslowitz.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Robinson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Henry.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay, and

         22  some of the members are not here and I would like to

         23  hold the vote open, and thank you very much.

         24                 And now I would like to, on the

         25  newsstands I would like to call Robert Bookman.
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          2                 MR. BOOKMAN:  Good morning,

          3  Chairperson Koslowitz, members of the Committee.

          4  Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you

          5  today to express the strong support of the City's

          6  sidewalk newsstand operators for Intro. 968.

          7                 Unfortunately, this is an industry

          8  that is a small remnant of what it once was.  It is

          9  an industry facing hard economic times, and once

         10  again, we need your help to ensure its survival.

         11  Forty years ago, there were 1,580 sidewalk

         12  newsstands, today, there are only 300, a 75 percent

         13  decrease.

         14                 In 1979, the City Council in an

         15  attempt to stem the tide in newsstand decline,

         16  passed a wide ranging bill to help ensure the

         17  profitability of newsstands.  It helped for a while

         18  and numbers actually increased slightly in the early

         19  1990's.  But unfortunately, the old trend started

         20  again and we are now down 25 percent from the 398

         21  newsstands in existence in 1979.

         22                 This bill is needed to, once again,

         23  help stem that tide in newsstand decline by making

         24  the operation of sidewalk newsstands more profitable

         25  and more attractive as a business opportunity.
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          2  While this is a modest Intro., it takes a positive

          3  step in the right direction by correcting two

          4  longstanding problems with the existing newsstand

          5  law.

          6                 First, it increases the two dollar

          7  limit on merchandise that can be sold from

          8  newsstands.  The two dollar limit on merchandise was

          9  adopted 22 years ago in that 1979 Council newsstand

         10  relief effort.  The Council doubled the then one

         11  dollar limit in an attempt to make the operation of

         12  newsstands profitable. The Council promised to

         13  review the two dollar limit within a year. It never

         14  did.  In fact, an earlier draft of the bill actually

         15  provided for an automatic escalation clause, but

         16  that was dropped in favor of a promised review.

         17  Clearly, traditional newsstands staples such as

         18  films and batteries, which cost two dollars in 1979

         19  can no longer be offered for sale, adding to the

         20  difficulty in making a living wage.

         21                 This bill will bring back these

         22  newsstand staples while eliminating at any price

         23  non- traditional newsstand items such as costume

         24  jewelry, which, frankly, operators were forced to

         25  carry simply to make a living wage for years,
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          2  because nothing else that they could sell cost less

          3  than two dollars.  The requirement that newsstands

          4  devote a majority of their display to printed

          5  material also in not changed in this Intro.

          6  Therefore, newsstands will remain newsstands.

          7                 Second, the Intro. Corrects a

          8  language problem so as to conform newsstands to all

          9  other laws and make newsstands businesses that

         10  people are not afraid of owning.  The ownership of

         11  newsstands will remain, as it should, in the hands

         12  of small "mom and pops" entrepreneurs, often recent

         13  immigrants' first business. And the 30- year- old

         14  limit on two newsstands per person will also remain,

         15  as it should.

         16                 But what this bill will do, is give

         17  to sidewalk newsstand operators the same legal

         18  rights that every other commercial business on the

         19  public sidewalks enjoy.  It would end decades of

         20  discrimination against newsstands by allowing the

         21  license to be in the name of a partnership or small

         22  corporation. Business ownership in these forms is

         23  the norm for all of the City's licensees, except

         24  newsstands.  It is so common that most consider it a

         25  basic right of doing business in this nation.  There
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          2  are no sound public policy reasons to permit all

          3  standard forms of business ownership for enclosed

          4  sidewalk cafes, fruit and vegetable stands, public

          5  telephones and even food vendor carts, but not

          6  newsstands.

          7                 Moreover, we have to correct a

          8  problem created in 1997 when this same language was

          9  passed.  For over a year, this language was the law.

         10    And dozens of newsstand owners did indeed change

         11  over from sole proprietorship to partnerships and

         12  corporations.  They spent hundreds to over a

         13  thousand dollars in legal and filing fees forming

         14  new legal entities, securing new sale tax numbers,

         15  et cetera, and for a year, they conducted business

         16  that way.  When the entire law was repealed in 1998,

         17  licenses were re- issued by Consumer Affairs, but

         18  only in the original individual names.  Yet with the

         19  knowledge and acquiescence of the Department of

         20  Consumer Affairs, these operators continued to today

         21  to conduct their businesses as a corporation or

         22  partnership and still do.  So today we have a very

         23  confusing situation where the newsstand license is

         24  in one name, but the tobacco license and sales tax

         25  is in another.  Intro. 968 would correct this
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          2  problem once and for all, and create a more

          3  sensible, regulatory environment.

          4                 Finally, back in 1997, these

          5  proposals were independent from the Street Furniture

          6  Franchise.  They stood alone as legislative

          7  improvements that went into effect immediately.  I

          8  was there, as were you, Madam Chairperson.   These

          9  ideas had been discussed and/or promised for over a

         10  decade, well before the Franchise proposals.  It was

         11  simply included as one large newsstand bill, because

         12  that is what legislatively made the most sense at

         13  the time.  The language in this Intro. Was actually

         14  drafted by the Administration and Council staff

         15  together in 1997 and passed by the City Council word

         16  for word.  As a matter of fact, as to the ownership

         17  issue, it is the same exact language that was

         18  borrowed from the Food Vendor Law, which still

         19  exists today.  So there is nothing new in this bill.

         20                 This Intro. Contains positive changes

         21  to help a small, but historically important

         22  industry.  It was sound public policy when you

         23  passed it in 1997.  It remains sound public policy

         24  today.

         25                 The only other thing I would like to
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          2  add to my prepared remarks, unless you have any

          3  questions, is that - - Welcome, Councilman. - -

          4  that in addition to the generic problems that we're

          5  having as an industry and have continued to have in

          6  the last few years, which I have outlined,

          7  unfortunately, the events of 9/11 has created, as it

          8  has for many industries, an additional problem.

          9  Downtown Manhattan, Canal Street and South, is the

         10  second most concentrated area in the City for

         11  sidewalk newsstands, with the exception of Midtown.

         12  Probably as much as 20 percent of those 300

         13  newsstands are south of Canal Street, and they are

         14  particularly being hard hit by the events.  Not only

         15  are the handful of newsstands that still remain

         16  closed, obviously, you know, hard hit, but the

         17  dozens of others in the business area of Downtown,

         18  Lower Broadway, et cetera, simply have not had the

         19  return of street traffic for obvious reasons.

         20                 And anything that can be done to help

         21  make newsstands somewhat more profitable, because

         22  there is only so much profit from the printed

         23  material, and to make the business attractive as a

         24  business holder, which a corporate structure would

         25  do, would be a big help, believe it or not, even
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          2  though it is a modest Intro., it would be a big

          3  help.

          4                 You will be hearing next from

          5  representatives from the major daily newspapers, the

          6  New York Times, The Daily News, NewsDay is here.

          7  The Post and the USA Today could not come, but they

          8  will be sending in, you know, written support for

          9  this bill. And you will hear from all of them how

         10  these, the remnant of this important industry, this

         11  300 sidewalk newsstands, from their perspective, has

         12  a disproportionate importance in circulation than

         13  300 lobby or enclosed stores would have.

         14                 And from our perspective, jobs is the

         15  watch word of the day.  While a small industry, it

         16  provides a significant number of good paying,

         17  regular jobs, as well as entrepreneurial experiences

         18  for new immigrants and individuals who have made,

         19  saving some money, and it's a good way, it's a

         20  positive use of the commercial sidewalks.

         21                 I hope you will continue as Councils

         22  in the past have done, take this step to help save

         23  what is left of this important industry.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I just want
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          2  to say that always I have been in the corner of the

          3  newsstand operators because they certainly serve a

          4  significant purpose in our City.  I know, just this

          5  morning, I got my newspapers from the newsstand just

          6  as I got my coffee from the vendoring cart.  So

          7  certainly, you have been very cooperative, and when

          8  we did the street furniture you were willing to go

          9  that extra mile, and since that never came to

         10  fruition, I feel that it is our turn, time to go

         11  that extra mile.

         12                 MR. BOOKMAN:  I can tell you that I'm

         13  not just speaking personally, but on behalf of the

         14  Newsstand Operators Association and our hundreds of

         15  members, we have appreciated, greatly, the support

         16  you and Council Member Sabini and the other members

         17  of this Committee has given to this industry over

         18  the years.

         19                 We, certainly, will greatly miss your

         20  leadership and your presence here in the Council,

         21  and we wish you well in your future endeavors, and

         22  we hope to remain close and connected.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

         24                 Before I continue, Council Member

         25  Sabini came in and I would like his vote on Proposed
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          2  Intro. No. 821- A.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Council Member

          4  Sabini.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

          7                 Anybody have any questions?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  If I may,

          9  Madam Chair?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Council

         11  Member Henry.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Mr. Bookman,

         13  in your testimony you made mention of the fact that

         14  there once existed over 1,500 newsstands and it now

         15  stands at approximately 300.

         16                 What can account for this drastic

         17  reduction?

         18                 MR. BOOKMAN:  There are a variety of

         19  factors, Councilman, which accounts for this steady

         20  decline over the decades in the number of sidewalk

         21  newsstands.

         22                 First, and probably the most

         23  prominent, is the, back in the 1950 there were many

         24  more daily newspapers and it was still people's

         25  major source of securing news.  So people read a lot
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          2  more than they read today, unfortunately.  And with

          3  the decline of the sale of printed material, that

          4  has certainly been a major factor.

          5                 However, there has also been other

          6  factors which were more government related.  For

          7  many years prior to the formation of the Newsstand

          8  Operators Association in 1986, frankly there were

          9  City government policies which were not conducive to

         10  newsstand ownership.  And when a lot of the original

         11  newsstands owners, veterans and handicapped

         12  individuals moved on because they had other

         13  opportunities in society, they were not replaced by

         14  other individuals because simply it was not a

         15  profitable business.  So there is plenty of blame to

         16  go around.

         17                 The Intro. Here today is another

         18  example.  In 1968 the Council first said, you know

         19  we need to let newsstands sell items other than

         20  printed material because they cannot make a living

         21  just selling printed material, so they created this

         22  one dollar limit.  Eleven years later you came back

         23  in 1979, you said, you know, we have got to raise

         24  this to two dollars because you cannot buy, you

         25  know, what you could in 1968 for a buck anymore,
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          2  plus you made some other changes in 1979, you

          3  increased the maximum size of the newsstand, you

          4  made it other changes that make it more profitable.

          5                 But we're here 22 years later, and

          6  can you imagine not getting a raise in 22 years, but

          7  that is what has happened. And as a result of that

          8  it is increasingly difficult to make a decent middle

          9  class living operating a newsstand today.

         10                 So there is no one answer,

         11  Councilman, but there is, frankly, you know, some

         12  factors that we have no control over and some

         13  factors such as this that we do have some control

         14  over.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  But one of the

         16  explanations be in the fact that you made mention of

         17  in your testimony that vendors often use this as an

         18  entry level job.  So after a period of time for, you

         19  know, various reasons they move on into other

         20  occupations.  And also the fact that some are

         21  individually owned as well as corporately owned.

         22                 Is it your view that corporate

         23  ownership has taken over a monopoly of the business?

         24                 MR. BOOKMAN:  No, because we have

         25  not, Newsstand Law does not allow for a corporate
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          2  ownership, so that could not be a factor.

          3                 And the bill before you, it would

          4  allow what we would call "mom and pop" type

          5  corporations.  It would not allow some big

          6  distribution company to come in and take over

          7  sidewalk newsstands.  It would still allow, no more

          8  than two newsstand ownerships in any combination of

          9  ownership that you would want, no one person could

         10  still be involved with more than two newsstands.

         11                 So while it allows these "mom and

         12  pops" the protection of a corporate ownership, which

         13  every other business enjoys in case somebody trips

         14  or falls or whatever, there is the corporation

         15  ownership protects that individual liability so your

         16  personal savings account, or your personal home is

         17  not in jeopardy if there is a business related

         18  problem.  Newsstands have not enjoyed that

         19  protection, this bill would give them that

         20  protection, but it will still keep the "mom and pop"

         21  ownership.

         22                 One thing wonderful about this City

         23  is there is always another immigrant group, you

         24  know, who is ready to replace another immigrant

         25  group.  And I think if we make newsstands more
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          2  attractive as a business ownership, I think there

          3  will be new immigrant groups coming in, perhaps from

          4  your community, who will see newsstands with a

          5  minimal investment as a good long- term business

          6  ownership.

          7                 We have some of the members here from

          8  the Indian community and the Pakistani community who

          9  started in newsstands in the 1980's and, frankly, it

         10  is wonderful to see their children going to college,

         11  some of them to medical school here in the City.

         12  Obviously, their children are not going to be

         13  operating newsstands, but we need to make it

         14  attractive so that the next immigrant group, the

         15  next have- nots of the City say, this is a business

         16  that is good for me.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  My final

         18  question, of the 300 newsstands that are now in

         19  existence, what percentage of them are stationary as

         20  against mobile stands?

         21                 MR. BOOKMAN:  This bill impacts only

         22  the stationary structures, the sidewalk kiosks, none

         23  of them are mobile.  These are the little 50 to 72

         24  square feet structures that you see scattered

         25  throughout the City, scattered throughout the four
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          2  boroughs, there are none in Staten Island.  There

          3  are quite a few less in Queens and Brooklyn and the

          4  Bronx than there once were.  It has become somewhat

          5  Manhattan centric.

          6                 But 100 percent of these are

          7  individually owned, privately built structures, but

          8  at locations that go through a lengthy approval

          9  process by five different City agencies.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Council

         11  Member Robinson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Thank you

         13  very much, Chairwoman Koslowitz.

         14                 Mr. Brookman, Mr. Bookman, I'm sorry.

         15                 MR. BOOKMAN:  It's okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  My question

         17  goes to, in terms of number one, those persons that

         18  establish newsstands, what is the process for them

         19  to go through to be able to get a newsstand?

         20                 MR. BOOKMAN:  The law has always

         21  initially allowed a, or encouraged an

         22  entrepreneurial decision as to where someone would

         23  like to locate a permanent kiosk structure.

         24                 This historically, to give you a

         25  little information, prior to World War I there were
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          2  no sidewalk newsstands in New York City.  They were

          3  what they used to call their newsboys, their news

          4  hawkers.  After World War little wood shacks started

          5  to appear at common locations, and by the early

          6  1930's the first Newsstand Law was passed to kind of

          7  regulate this haphazard methodology of putting

          8  structures on the sidewalk.

          9                 But it always allowed, and it still

         10  is allowed today, the initial decision to be in the

         11  hands of the potential owner, the potential

         12  operator, saying, I want to put a newsstand at such

         13  and such a corner.  Government, City government

         14  regulates that decision to a very high degree.

         15  There are approximately 25 pages of rules and

         16  regulations concerning placement of sidewalk

         17  newsstands, design of sidewalk newsstands, and there

         18  is a multi agency approval process.

         19                 You file at the Department of

         20  Consumer Affairs with plans from an architect

         21  showing the proposed footprint, how far, how wide

         22  the sidewalk is, how far you are away from doorways,

         23  from fire hydrants, from every structure you can

         24  think of, there is a legal clearance requirement.

         25                 Consumer Affairs then reviews that,
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          2  it goes to the Department of Highways that reviews

          3  it, they do a physical site inspection to determine

          4  that all the clearances are met.  They do a physical

          5  pedestrian count to make sure that the location is

          6  not too congested.  If it is in a landmark district,

          7  it goes to Landmarks, it goes to City Planning who

          8  helps review the process.

          9                 If it gets all of those approvals, it

         10  then goes to the Art Commission who reviews the

         11  design of the newsstand.  And we're very proud,

         12  since the Newsstand Association was formed in 1986,

         13  we have worked hand-in-hand with the Art Commission

         14  and dramatically improved the design of the new

         15  structures that you have seen built since the

         16  1990's.  So they're much better looking than the old

         17  boxes were, they're made of nicer materials, they

         18  stand up better, they're longer lasting, and they

         19  have got a nicer look on the sidewalk.

         20                 Once you get all of those approvals,

         21  should you get all those approvals, then, and it

         22  takes about a year and a half to go through this

         23  process, then you are given permission to build your

         24  newsstand.

         25                 The money comes from the individual
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          2  who pays for the structure, you have got to connect

          3  it with electricity.  The City then, Consumer

          4  Affairs then inspects to make sure that you built it

          5  in the right space according to the approved plans,

          6  and if that is so, then you get your license and you

          7  can start operating.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Thank you.

          9                 What is the cost of the investment to

         10  the proposed owner for newsstands?

         11                 MR. BOOKMAN:  Well, because of the

         12  dramatic improvement in the design of the newsstand,

         13  you know, that we have supported over the years, it

         14  is much more expensive than it used to be.  It's

         15  now, frankly, approximately a $30,000 investment to

         16  go through the application process, pay professional

         17  fees, thank goodness lawyers still have to get paid,

         18  to pay the architect, to build the newsstand, and

         19  then to get, you know, material and merchandise into

         20  it, the electric connection.  Actually, Con Ed used

         21  to charge us for that, we went to court and won a

         22  case saying that we were permanent structures so

         23  they legally have to, at no cost, connect us with

         24  electricity.

         25                 It's a minimum of a $30,000
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          2  investment.  It could be a little bit more.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Thank you.

          4                 MR. BOOKMAN:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I just have

          6  to tell you another story.

          7                 On Columbus Day I was on Continental

          8  Avenue near a subway stop handing out literature,

          9  and the newsstand was closed because it was a

         10  holiday, and you cannot imagine the people that got

         11  off the buses there and came around the corner and

         12  saw that the newsstand was closed, and the

         13  expressions on their faces was a disappointment. I

         14  was like totally amazed on how many people reacted

         15  to the newsstand being closed.

         16                 MR. BOOKMAN:  Newsstands are, have

         17  the support of New Yorkers always, they always had,

         18  it's part of the neighborhood, it's part of your

         19  daily habit, and I guess, Councilman Henry, that

         20  would give me another reason for the decline is,

         21  when a newsstand went out of business and that

         22  location got lost, New Yorkers are such creatures of

         23  habit they will not walk across the street to that

         24  newsstand, this was their newsstand and they just

         25  will not buy the newspaper any more, or they will
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          2  get home delivery, which we have to talk to the

          3  circulation people, we have to figure out some way

          4  to discontinue home delivery, make everybody buy it

          5  at newsstands.

          6                 But people love, we just, an

          7  anecdotal story, we just worked with the Grand

          8  Central Partnership and Route In Management in a

          9  joint, unprecedented project on Lexington and in the

         10  50's, replacing an existing old newsstand with a

         11  brand new, highly, you know, a cadillac designed

         12  newsstand, and it was paid for by the Grand Central

         13  Partnership.  And it is in a part of a project to

         14  show that together we can work to improve the look

         15  of the newsstands, you know, without the

         16  Administration's original idea of throwing all these

         17  people out and bringing in some big multinational

         18  corporation to control our sidewalks, that if we

         19  work together with building owners and VID's we can

         20  do it stand by stand.  And this was the first one,

         21  it just opened two weeks ago. It's a gorgeous

         22  newsstand, you should go up and take a look at it.

         23                 But there was a 48-hour period where

         24  we had to demolish the old structure, to bring in

         25  the new one to replace it. And when the old
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          2  structure was being demolished, the Grand Central

          3  Partnership had to place an informational person

          4  there because so many people from the neighborhood

          5  were coming over, and it was like a protest was

          6  developing, what are you doing to our newsstand,

          7  what is happening to Mr. and Mrs. Ponzinni, a

          8  husband and wife team that have worked this

          9  newsstand for, you know, for 20 years.  And they had

         10  to have somebody there, they were not originally

         11  planning it, and they had somebody there all day to

         12  let the people know that their newsstand is not

         13  leaving, it's just going to be a better newsstand.

         14                 So there is definitely, the public

         15  enjoys their newsstands, no question about it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Madam Chair,

         17  if I may?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Mr. Bookman,

         20  is it your opinion that given the need for such an

         21  industry and for it to be encouraged by the City

         22  that the City needs to give additional incentives

         23  for the industry to improve and develop?

         24                 MR. BOOKMAN:  Mr. Henry, the biggest

         25  incentive the City could do to help stem the tide of
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          2  sidewalk newsstands is to follow the Newsstand Law

          3  that you have passed.

          4                 If they followed the Newsstand Law

          5  that you have passed, it would take no longer than

          6  six months for an application to go from start to

          7  approval.  Instead, this Administration in the last

          8  eight years has done everything it could to fought

          9  new applications.  So we have a constant attrition,

         10  it's a natural attrition, people retire, they go out

         11  of business, their newsstand is lost, but that

         12  attrition is not being replaced with new applicants

         13  at new locations because they put every stumbling

         14  block they can to make the process more difficult,

         15  they ignore the time frames in the law.

         16                 Just follow the law, is all we ask,

         17  and you would see, I think, in a combination with

         18  this bill, we can start increasing the numbers

         19  slightly again, at least stop the decline.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  What is the

         21  tax factor involved?

         22                 MR. BOOKMAN:  They pay the same taxes

         23  as any other business.  Sales tax on non- printed

         24  material, income tax.  As a matter of fact, it's

         25  another positive aspect of this bill is by allowing
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          2  these individuals to enter into formal partnership

          3  or corporate agreements there will not be this

          4  situation anymore where there is a lot of operation

          5  by handshake agreements.  And I think from a

          6  regulatory purpose and a public policy point of

          7  view, it would make tax collection simpler and

          8  easier.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Madam

         10  Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Council

         12  Member Robinson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Yes, Mr.

         14  Bookman again, just for, you know, there are people

         15  that are, will be watching this hearing.  And, of

         16  course, we try to provide as much information as

         17  possible.  And my next question goes to in terms of

         18  the criteria for owning and operating a newsstand?

         19                 MR. BOOKMAN:  Well the law provides

         20  for minimal criteria, quite frankly.  It's simply

         21  requires that the newsstand operation be your

         22  principle employment.

         23                 So in other words, we're not giving

         24  this valuable 50 to 60 square feet of public space

         25  to somebody who wants to do it as a part- time job,
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          2  or as an investment.  We're saying the quick pro quo

          3  to getting this space, is we want this to be your

          4  principle source of employment, principle source of

          5  income, as it should be.

          6                 And that is the criteria for, other

          7  than all the placement and design criteria.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Madam Chair,

         10  one last question.

         11                 I have spoken with quite a number of

         12  these operators, and I know, maybe this bill has

         13  nothing to do with it, but this is one of their

         14  complaints that there is a dire need for toilet

         15  facilities in the vicinity of these newsstands.

         16                 MR. BOOKMAN:  It's an old complaint,

         17  it's an old problem.  Frankly, it requires

         18  cooperation between the operator with some nearby

         19  store or building owner, which we generally secure,

         20  but that has always been traditionally a problem.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 MR. BOOKMAN:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Robert

         25  Bergen, Brian Sheahan, John Quilla, and Martin
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          2  Pineyro.  Just repeat your name, for the record.

          3                 MR. QUILLA:  All right.  John Quilla

          4  from the New York Daily News.

          5                 MR. SHEAHAN:  Brian Sheahan from the

          6  New York Times.

          7                 MR. BERGEN:  Bob Bergen from NewsDay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Choose who

          9  wants to begin.

         10                 MR. BERGEN:  I would just like to

         11  really, in all my 27 years in this business right

         12  now, I fully support Mr. Bookman and his hard work

         13  that he has done with this group of newsstand

         14  operators.  And they really are the backbone of our

         15  industry right now.  And I really wish we had 1,500

         16  newsstands like we did have 30 some odd years ago.

         17                 And I just basically, on behalf of

         18  NewsDay and the many year that I have worked in the

         19  circulation business, these people, it's amazing how

         20  hard they work and I fully support what Mr. Bookman

         21  is doing.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 MR. SHEAHAN:  Brian Sheahan from the

         24  New York Times. I wholeheartedly concur with what

         25  Bob has said, and support Mr. Bookman and the
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          2  hardworking newsstand operators here in Manhattan.

          3                 Unlike some of the other customers we

          4  do business with on a retail end whose primary

          5  business might not be newspapers, but other items,

          6  these folks put their heart and soul into moving

          7  newspapers.  And on behalf of the New York Times,

          8  we're 100 percent in support of them and Mr.

          9  Bookman's group.

         10                 MR. QUILLA:  John Quilla from the New

         11  York Daily News.  I also concur with what the Times

         12  and NewsDay are saying, the importance of the

         13  newsstands and the cooperation and dedication from

         14  Mr. Bookman to the newsstand people, hardworking

         15  individuals that are a fixture of our City, and a

         16  significant importance to the newspaper industry.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Does anybody

         19  have any questions?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  I would just

         21  like to ask, you know, a comment question.

         22  Collectively, what is the volume of business that

         23  the operators deliver on your behalf?

         24                 MR. SHEAHAN:  I will take a crack at

         25  this first, Bob.
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          2                 MR. BERGEN:  Yes, we will let the big

          3  guy, you know.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Because why I

          5  said that it is unusual for, you know, your industry

          6  to actually come together collectively to support

          7  this industry.

          8                 MR. SHEAHAN:  I can tell you working

          9  closely with the folks from NewsDay, News and Post,

         10  approximately 70 percent of the retail copies we

         11  sell in the New York Metropolitan area are sold in

         12  Manhattan, and the four boroughs.  So an incredibly

         13  high amount of sale comes from these independent

         14  newsstands.

         15                 Bob, I'm not sure what NewsDay's

         16  numbers are.

         17                 MR. BERGEN:  You know, since NewsDay

         18  left New York, I mean, which was back in 1995, we

         19  have gradually increased our circulation base back

         20  in Manhattan.  So just speaking for the whole

         21  industry as a whole, and I think Martin and John

         22  from the Daily News' standpoint, and the New York

         23  Post who is not here, I mean they do sell an

         24  incredible amount of newspapers on these newsstands,

         25  like the Madam had said before.  I mean it really
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          2  does make up a bulk, like Brian said, of our

          3  business.

          4                 There are many high, high spot

          5  locations that are, basically these newsstand

          6  operators that are out there, you know, in the

          7  freezing cold and in the hot weather, and you know,

          8  like you said before, the fact that they have no

          9  bathroom facilities, I mean, it is not a real, you

         10  know, pleasant working condition in many

         11  standpoints.

         12                 But to answer your question, they do

         13  make up a bulk of the New York newspaper business

         14  right now.

         15                 MR. QUILLA:  Speaking for the Daily

         16  News, they're in, mostly located in the high, what

         17  we call high spot, the high transient locations.

         18  And they probably represent upper issue about 10

         19  percent, the upper 10 percent of our dealers

         20  circulation, so extremely important to us.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Given all

         22  that, the decline in the industry in terms of the

         23  number of operators, actually had a sort of

         24  devastating effects, you know, upon your production.

         25                 MR. SHEAHAN:  Absolutely.
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          2                 MR. QUILLA:  Without a doubt, it

          3  would have a devastating effect on our sales.

          4                 MR. BERGEN:  Yes, I think Mr. Bookman

          5  explained it pretty well.  I mean there has just

          6  been a general decline in newspaper circulation over

          7  the last 40 years, and I think the fact that we're

          8  down to really five major Metropolitan newspapers

          9  right now, which, I mean thank God this City does

         10  still have that voice left.  I mean with other

         11  cities you're probably down to one, and possibly

         12  even two newspapers.  So at least these folks still

         13  have a pretty good collection of newspapers to make

         14  some profit on.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  And finally,

         16  on an individual basis you do give incentives to

         17  these operators to continue to invest or move your

         18  newspapers, because I know one or two operators who

         19  have actually discontinued the sale of some

         20  newspapers because of lack of, you know, incentives.

         21                 MR. SHEAHAN:  Well I would say, I

         22  mean I think the pressure sometimes from a corporate

         23  standpoint on profit margins is definitely something

         24  that we, as circulators, oppose sometimes, you know,

         25  based on the margin that we might give back to the
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          2  operator. I know that has been a battle that has

          3  gone on now for the last 15 to 20 years on what

          4  profit margin these folks do make.

          5                 But I know the New York Times, and I

          6  think all the papers have done some different

          7  incentive fields with some of the newsstand

          8  operators, and we do not pay any kind of a retail

          9  allowance like you might see in supermarkets.  But,

         10  I mean that is something I guess down the road that

         11  I guess we all could look at, you know, possibly

         12  making it more attractive.

         13                 I don't know what you guys think

         14  about that.

         15                 MR. QUILLA:  On occasion we do run

         16  promotions, and we're always open for promotions

         17  with individuals or collectively.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I just want

         19  to add that, I was talking to Nelson, that certainly

         20  these gentlemen and women are entitled to, you know,

         21  make, you know, do a business that is profitable to

         22  them where they can, you know, live the American

         23  Dream.

         24                 And I just want to say that I noticed

         25  throughout the years that fruit and vegetable stands
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          2  now sell flowers, and they did not have to go

          3  through any red tape to sell those flowers.  And I

          4  don't think there is a fruit and vegetable stand, at

          5  least in my neighborhood, that does not sell

          6  flowers, and I see them keep adding you know

          7  different thinks that they sell.

          8                 So certainly, these, you know I feel

          9  that these gentlemen and women deserve to make their

         10  money, as I said for the American Dream.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 MR. BERGEN:  Thank you.

         13                 MR. SHEAHAN: Thank you.

         14                 MR. QUILLA:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  We are

         16  waiting for the Administration to testify, they are

         17  not here.  There was a little mix up on the time of

         18  the meeting today.  So we will take a five minute

         19  recess.

         20                 (Recess taken.)

         21                 Thank you very much, I'm sorry for

         22  the mix up with the time, and I appreciate your

         23  being here.

         24                 MR. EILER:  Thank you, Chairwoman

         25  Koslowitz.  We did have testimony ready, so here we
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          2  are, time doesn't matter that much.

          3                 Good morning.  My name is Andrew

          4  Eiler, and I'm the Chief Research Analyst with the

          5  Department of Consumer Affairs. Commissioner Jane

          6  Steiner Hoffman asked me to express her regrets from

          7  being unable to attend this hearing, and to thank

          8  you for this opportunity to appear before you at

          9  this first hearing on Intro. 968 relating to the

         10  licensing of newsstands located on City sidewalks.

         11                 Before I address how Intro. 968 would

         12  revise who would qualify as a newsstand licensee, I

         13  would like to provide a brief historical sketch of

         14  the Newsstand Licensing Law.

         15                 The City initiated its newsstand

         16  licensing program in 1914.  At the time, its basic

         17  purpose was to provide, without charging rents,

         18  space on sidewalks to handicapped individuals and

         19  persons unable to find work to enable them to earn a

         20  living by operating newsstands.  Instead of rent,

         21  the City charged only a nominal $10 per year license

         22  fee.  Tight restrictions were placed on newsstand

         23  operators who were originally barred from selling

         24  any tobacco products or candy.  The maximum sale

         25  price of items other than periodicals were fixed at
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          2  one dollar, and the maximum newsstand size was

          3  limited to 52 square feet.

          4                 In 1935, the requirements for

          5  operating newsstands were formalized in the

          6  Administrative Code. The next basic change in the

          7  law occurred in 1979 when the following revisions

          8  were enacted:

          9                 First, the maximum newsstand size was

         10  increased to its present 72 square feet.

         11                 Second, the restrictions on various

         12  commodities that could be sold was lifted, and the

         13  maximum price that could be charged for non- printed

         14  matter was raised to its current two dollar maximum.

         15                 And then finally, the newsstand

         16  licensing fee was increased from its original $10

         17  fee to $50 per year.  The license fee was

         18  subsequently increased to its current biannual fee

         19  of $1,076.

         20                 The principle purpose of the

         21  newsstand licensing program that has remained

         22  unchanged was to enable the handicapped to earn a

         23  living using sidewalk space to operate newsstand for

         24  a nominal fee.

         25                 There is a very singular trend that
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          2  characterizes the evolution of the industry during

          3  the last 60 years.  The number of newsstands dotting

          4  the City's landscape has shrunk drastically from

          5  1,580 licensees in 1940 to 304 today, a fivefold or

          6  80 percent decline.

          7                 Now that I have sketched out the

          8  history of the law, I would like to summarize DCA's

          9  procedure for approving the newsstand applications.

         10  This procedure is straightforward and designed to

         11  ensure that the area occupied by newsstands conforms

         12  to site restrictions, that it does not obstruct the

         13  free use of sidewalk by pedestrians, and that it

         14  does not unduly conflict with street furniture or

         15  the design relationship with its surroundings.

         16                 Newsstand licenses are currently

         17  personal licenses that are issued subject to the

         18  following requirements:

         19                 First, the licensee must be a natural

         20  person for whom the operation of newsstands is his

         21  or her principle employment.

         22                 Second, no more than two licenses can

         23  be issued per person.

         24                 And third, licenses are issued in

         25  accordance with the ranked order of preferences

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  where there are competing applications for the same

          3  location.  The preferences are ranked based on an

          4  applicant's handicap status, ranging from disabled

          5  veteran, handicapped person defined by the

          6  Department, veterans who are not disabled, persons

          7  over 62 years old, and finally, all others.

          8                 Broadly summarized, the Department

          9  process the applications according to the following

         10  procedure:

         11                 The Department first sends completed

         12  applications to the affected Community Board for its

         13  review.  The Community Board has 60 days to submit

         14  its recommendation to the Department.  The

         15  application is also submitted to the Department of

         16  Transportation for its inspection site approval,

         17  which DOT conducts only after the 60- day comment

         18  period for the Community Board has expired.

         19                 Applicants for newsstands that are

         20  located within an area under the jurisdiction of the

         21  Landmarks and Preservation Commission must also

         22  apply directly to the Commission for its approval.

         23                 Finally, the application is also

         24  submitted to the Arts Commission, which bases its

         25  recommendation on site plans, architectural scale
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          2  drawings, photos and sample materials.

          3                 Once the application is passed

          4  through this multi agency review, DCA sends the

          5  applicant a Permission to Erect a Newsstand form.

          6  The construction of the approved stand must then be

          7  completed within 120 calendar days of the date the

          8  application has received, the applicant has received

          9  DCA's permission to construct it.

         10                 The final step in the process is a

         11  DCA inspection to verify that the newsstand was

         12  built, conforms to the approved specifications.

         13                 For renewal applications, DCA

         14  conducts a site inspection and forwards its findings

         15  to DOT for its review before issuing a renewal

         16  license.

         17                 The Department currently licenses 304

         18  newsstands. Of these 304 licensees, 111 or 37

         19  percent, have disabilities that qualify them for

         20  priority assignments to newsstands.  The Department

         21  currently has 64 pending applications, of these 35

         22  are new applications and 29 are renewals.

         23                 Intro. 968 would revise two

         24  significant components of the newsstand licensing

         25  requirements.  First, the bill would dramatically
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          2  change the qualification for who could hold a

          3  license. These revisions would:

          4                 Change the definition of who could

          5  qualify as a newsstand licensee from only a natural

          6  person to various types of business entities, such

          7  as corporations, partnerships limited liability

          8  companies or other associations.  This change strips

          9  from the program its original underlying purpose

         10  that newsstands provide an opportunity for

         11  handicapped individuals and others unable to be

         12  employed to earn a living by operating a newsstand.

         13                 It would also add provisions that

         14  identify who is deemed to hold licenses issued to

         15  various business entities, such as stockholder,

         16  corporate director, natural person.  These

         17  provisions seek to pierce the corporate veils that

         18  the expansion of the definition of license holder

         19  will make possible.  This complicated scheme is

         20  currently unnecessary since the natural person who

         21  must be the licensee is clearly identifiable.

         22                 Revise the principle employment

         23  requirement for a newsstand holder by providing that

         24  just one person from a business entity, such as a

         25  shareholder of a corporation, one partner of a
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          2  partnership, or one member of a limited liability

          3  company have no income from other sources that

          4  exceeds his or her income from a newsstand, but

          5  without counting that person's investment income.

          6  This change makes is possible for the real corporate

          7  owners of newsstand to pretend to fulfill the

          8  original purpose of providing the handicapped and

          9  hard to employ individual an opportunity to earn a

         10  living by merely dressing up the corporate facade

         11  with a token person to play that role simply by

         12  arranging to have one individual in a corporation

         13  meet that qualification.

         14                 Second, the bill would revise the

         15  restriction on the types of goods that could be sold

         16  at newsstands by:

         17                 Raising the maximum price of goods

         18  sold other than printed matter from two to five

         19  dollars; and

         20                 Barring the sale of apparel, jewelry,

         21  hair ornaments, handbags and video cassettes.

         22                 Upon review of the proposals from the

         23  standpoint of how the proposed revisions are likely

         24  to impact on the newsstand licensing program, we

         25  have concluded that it would certainly be
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          2  appropriate to revise the restriction on the goods

          3  that can be sold from newsstand as the bill proposes

          4  to do.

          5                 We have however, also concluded that

          6  the proposed revisions of the qualifications for who

          7  can be a newsstand licensee would both undermine the

          8  basic purpose of the newsstand licensing program and

          9  hampered DCA's ability to effectively enforced the

         10  law for the following reasons:

         11                 First, allowing business

         12  organizations to hold newsstand licenses would

         13  negate the limitation barring the transfer of

         14  newsstand licenses to others, except to the family

         15  members specified in the law.

         16                 Making possible the transfer of

         17  newsstand licenses by transferring ownership

         18  interests in the business entity essentially

         19  transforms the newsstand license into permanent tile

         20  to City property.  It is likely to result in the

         21  currently issued licenses becoming unavailable to be

         22  issued to new applicants for no more than the

         23  license fee.  This bill essentially allows corporate

         24  owners to buy a piece of City property for $1,076.

         25  And since the bill allows corporate owners to sell
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          2  their businesses with the newsstand license, the

          3  bill will allow such owners to reap huge windfall

          4  profits.

          5                 Second, the proposed revisions would

          6  substantially alter the basic purpose of the law

          7  without any showing that the proposed change is

          8  warranted or beneficial to the City.

          9                 Where the program was initiated in

         10  1914, its underlying purpose was to provide

         11  valuable, rent- free sidewalk space to handicapped

         12  individuals and people unable to find work to earn a

         13  living.  The law now effectuates this principle by

         14  limiting the issuing of licenses to a natural

         15  persons.  It is, after all, only such real

         16  individuals for whom the operation of a newsstand

         17  would be his or her principle employment.  This

         18  requirement also ensures that the person to whom the

         19  license is issued is also the sole individual who is

         20  fully in charge of the business.

         21                 Intro. 968 discards the basic

         22  principle by allowing the ownership and operation of

         23  newsstands by corporate owners and other legal

         24  fictions whose real owners can be nameless and

         25  faceless investors far removed from the operation of
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          2  the business.  Such corporate owners would, to be

          3  sure, still be required to find some token

          4  individual who makes more from the newsstand than

          5  other source of employment income.  But such token

          6  person could be little more than window dressing who

          7  had nothing to do with operating a newsstand.  The

          8  real owners could be investors now able to speculate

          9  on the value of the sidewalk space their company has

         10  acquired with their license.

         11                 Third, it would be difficult, time

         12  consuming and costly to enforced the requirements

         13  the bill contains on cross participation in, and

         14  cross holding of newsstand license by organization

         15  principles.

         16                 The detailed requirements that

         17  specify who is deemed to be a holder of licenses are

         18  meant to prevent the concentration of licenses by

         19  limiting cross- participation of partners, members,

         20  shareholders and directors of various types of

         21  business organizations.  It would, however, be

         22  nearly impossible in the normal course of license

         23  applications evaluations to identify and screen out

         24  hidden cross participation or hidden interests of

         25  participants.
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          2                 The policy considerations that made

          3  it sound to include the provisions of Intro. 968 in

          4  a more comprehensive reform package that compromised

          5  numerous competing issues of interests are, however,

          6  not present in the current context as a validating

          7  foundation for adopting these free- standing

          8  provisions.

          9                 The provisions included in Intro. 968

         10  were just one part of Local Law 29 for the Year 1997

         11  that has substantially revised the newsstand

         12  licensing program as part of a much broader package

         13  the Council adopted.  As you know, however, that

         14  Local Law was subsequently repealed by Local Law No.

         15  41 for the Year 1998.

         16                 For these reasons, Commissioner Jane

         17  Steiner Hoffman asked me to express her position

         18  that the Committee not adopt the proposed changes in

         19  the qualifying requirements for newsstand holders.

         20                 The Commissioner does, however,

         21  believe that it would be timely to change the

         22  restrictions on the sale of goods other than printed

         23  matter at newsstands that are included in Intro.

         24  968.

         25                 Thank you again for this opportunity
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          2  to appear before you, and I would be pleased to

          3  answer any questions you may have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  How many

          5  newsstands have been transferred pursuant to the

          6  waiting list?

          7                 MR. EILER:  There have not been very

          8  many, there are only a few every year.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  When you say

         10  a few, what would you say the number is?

         11                 MR. EILER:  Well, do you mean

         12  transfers from a spouse, from the holder to a

         13  spouse?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  No.

         15                 MR. EILER:  Or to just a waiting list

         16  unrelated to the current holder?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Right.

         18                 MR. EILER:  There is only, I think,

         19  one or two per year, just a small number.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  How many

         21  people turn in their licenses a year?

         22                 MR. EILER:  Same thing, just a very

         23  small number of people.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  So its a

         25  pretty steady, ongoing, once the license is issued?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 MR. EILER:  Well the people who have

          3  been licensed, yes, it is 304 people left, so it is

          4  not going to be a terribly large turnover.  One

          5  would expect that this does give people, you know, a

          6  valuable way to make a living, and so the

          7  infrequency of turnovers is, because the stands they

          8  have are, obviously, a good place to still work.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  And how would

         10  a newsstand operator be compensated if they decided

         11  to turn in their license?

         12                 MR. EILER:  Well the license goes

         13  back to the City.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  For the

         15  structure, for their structure?

         16                 MR. EILER:  I guess they can sell the

         17  structure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  To who?

         19                 MR. EILER:  Well I mean whoever they

         20  want to.  But if the license is transferred, the new

         21  licensee has the option of either keeping the

         22  structure or constructing his own under the

         23  specifications that are available for putting up a

         24  structure.  So, I mean the license is transferred,

         25  and the structure itself was basically up for the
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          2  new license fee.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Now when you,

          4  when we talk about corporation, you know, I find it,

          5  you know, we're talking about when you think of, in

          6  your testimony you're talking about a corporation

          7  that is, you know, that I see as huge, you know, a

          8  big company.

          9                 Here we're talking about 304

         10  newsstands that are currently licensed and out on

         11  the streets.  Now many people, you can open up a

         12  business, I can open up a business in my home and I

         13  would want to maybe form a corporation to protect

         14  myself so that if anything would happen, someone

         15  coming in to do business and they came into my home

         16  and they fell or something happened, my personal

         17  assets would not be affected by it.  And many people

         18  do, you know, form corporations just for that very

         19  reason, not because they want to make a big business

         20  out of it.  And I do not see that newsstands could

         21  be a big business, because I think if you took all

         22  304 of the newsstands and put them together, I do

         23  not think anybody could really become a millionaire.

         24                 These people struggle, they work 13

         25  hours a day to survive in the freezing cold weather,
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          2  in the hot weather, all kinds of weather, and I do

          3  not see big corporations.

          4                 So I understand what you're saying on

          5  if it was a really big business, if we were talking

          6  about 10,000 newsstands, maybe. But we're talking

          7  about 304 newsstands.  Here are individuals who are

          8  trying to make a living and they have to work, like

          9  I said, they do not open up their business in nine

         10  o'clock in the morning and close at five o'clock

         11  because that is, they probably sell most of their

         12  newspapers between six o'clock in the morning and

         13  seven o'clock at night, people coming home from

         14  work, going to work, and whatever monies they bring

         15  home at the end of the week, which I am sure, I do

         16  not see any millionaires sitting here.  That why

         17  wouldn't they want to protect themselves, they have

         18  children, they may want to send their children to

         19  college, and someone sues them and all their

         20  personal assets are totally gone?

         21                 MR. EILER:  Well I mean I know that

         22  it is a tough business, I see the newsstand

         23  operators out in the cold and all the rest of that

         24  stuff, selling the papers and so forth.  But one

         25  critical difference between anyone operating a
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          2  business and incorporating however he wants to

          3  operate it and newsstands is, the other people do

          4  not use City sidewalk space.

          5                 And the real critical difference and

          6  the distinction is that the license is a license for

          7  the use of the sidewalk space. And the corporate

          8  ownership structure changes the condition under

          9  which that license is available, given out, and can

         10  be transferred. That is the change that changing

         11  ownership status of the qualifying licensee does.

         12                 Now, you know, in terms of these

         13  other things, I mean, I do not know how one would

         14  want to approach that, but that is a huge, huge

         15  distinction.  That by making possible the unlimited

         16  transfer of the corporate or the business entity to

         17  others that basically allows to a sale of that

         18  sidewalk space to the licensee.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  But also each

         20  individual, the most amount of licenses they can get

         21  are two.

         22                 MR. EILER:  Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Right?  What

         24  kind of corporation would you have from two licenses

         25  per individual, and I do not know how many out of
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          2  the 304 newsstands that are up and running at this

          3  particular, how many of these owners have two

          4  licenses?

          5                 MR. EILER:  I do not have the figures

          6  in front me.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay, but how

          8  can you, the word corporation has different

          9  meanings.  And in this meaning, it's not the

         10  meaning, as far as I can see it, as a big business,

         11  because the most you could be dealing with are two

         12  newsstands?

         13                 MR. EILER:  Assuming there is no

         14  hidden controls that would escape detection, and

         15  that is a big assumption.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Say that

         17  again, I'm sorry?

         18                 MR. EILER:  Assuming that there are

         19  hidden ownerships, that there would be no hidden

         20  ownership interest that could escape detection, and

         21  I think that is a big assumption.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well I think

         23  that the Department of Consumer Affairs could have

         24  control over that, because on a corporation you have

         25  a list of the names of the people that are part of
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          2  that corporation.  I mean any corporation, if you

          3  wanted to find out about IBM and who is on the list,

          4  you can go and pick out those names, you would see

          5  the owners of - -

          6                 MR. EILER:  But there are ways of

          7  having indirect ownership or indirect financial

          8  relationships that would not be showing up in these

          9  kind of paperwork that would be difficult to trace.

         10                 It's not, I mean, you know, obviously

         11  if one were to know that something like that happens

         12  and one were to do the investigation, one would

         13  probably eventually be able to uncover it. But given

         14  the ownership structure if one wanted to do that, it

         15  could, you know, hidden in ways that would make it

         16  difficult.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Out of 304

         18  licenses I cannot see, you know, what a big job that

         19  would be for someone to go through and see how many

         20  names, and if more names appear.  I mean, we're

         21  talking, we're not talking about big businesses,

         22  we're talking about 304 licenses, that is all we're

         23  talking about.

         24                 MR. EILER:  As of right now, but the

         25  point still becomes then these licenses or these
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          2  locations once they're given to ownership that can

          3  transfer its ownership interests in a license, none

          4  of them would become available through the licensing

          5  program again to anybody.  They would be permanently

          6  assigned to a license, to a corporate license holder

          7  or some kind of business entity license holder, and

          8  basically it would take control of the operations of

          9  the newsstand and who gets it under what

         10  circumstances and for what purposes out of the

         11  City's hands.  That is basically what this structure

         12  creates.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well, I do

         14  not agree.  Okay, any questions?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Thank you,

         16  Madam Chair.

         17                 Mr. Eiler, in your testimony you made

         18  numerous mention of a natural person.  Seeing that

         19  I'm term limited along with, there are two- thirds

         20  of us, we may be looking for a new line of work,

         21  would I qualify as a natural person?

         22                 MR. EILER:  I mean, what we're, in

         23  the testimony we're just trying to distinguish

         24  between the natural person and a business entity

         25  that would technically speaking would also be
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          2  considered a person, but not like you or me, a

          3  corporation is not a physical entity, it's just, you

          4  know, a piece of paper.

          5                 And so the test, if I did not make

          6  clear, I'm sorry about that, but what we're trying

          7  to do, is that there is a distinction between us, as

          8  human beings sitting here and corporations, which

          9  are basically pieces of paper.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Secondly,

         11  there has been a huge decline from over 1,500 to now

         12  stated in your testimony, 304. What can account for

         13  this drastic decline, does it have to do with

         14  restrictions, enforcement?

         15                 MR. EILER:  Actually no, because I

         16  think the, over that period, the loss has been so

         17  far liberalized, because newsstands have been what

         18  they could sell and so forth has been broaden.  In

         19  other words, restrictions on newsstands operations

         20  were lifted in the course of time.

         21                 I think one of the things that

         22  probably accounts for it is that forty to sixty

         23  years ago, there were what, ten newspapers operating

         24  in the City and all kinds of other, in other words,

         25  people were maybe more inclined to read newspapers,
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          2  different kinds of newspapers.  We wanted more

          3  sources and outlets, television was not around, it

          4  was another form.  So that basically people went

          5  through the City in different ways and looked at

          6  this kind of periodical in different ways.  And just

          7  the very fact, that is what produced the decline, in

          8  my humble estimate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  If we're given

         10  the popularity of this industry, have you been

         11  providing any sort of incentives for more newsstands

         12  to be erected in other boroughs, seeing that the

         13  huge concentration is in the Borough of Manhattan?

         14                 MR. EILER:  I think, we have,

         15  apparently, 29 applications for new license, I mean

         16  for new locations that are currently being

         17  processed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Also, in your

         19  testimony, given the levels that one has to go

         20  through in processing a license, I would see it as a

         21  sort of, you know, discouragement of many, many

         22  vendors to enter into this industry.

         23                 How long does it normally take in the

         24  course of time for a license to be granted?

         25                 MR. EILER:  I don't have, I'm sorry I
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          2  do have the specific time frame for that.  I can,

          3  however, say it does take over a year, I would

          4  imagine because there is a lot of approvals that

          5  have got to go through, you to do site counts, we

          6  have to approval of the plans.  First you have

          7  Community Board approval, and then you have DOT

          8  approval, and then you have all kinds of other

          9  reviews that are done, and then you have to, and

         10  then there is usually back and forth between the

         11  architects and whatever, in terms of changes and so

         12  forth and so on.  And again, the newsstand has to

         13  fit within site restrictions.

         14                 So they're not necessarily all that

         15  many sites in the City that are both plausible as a

         16  place where you can put a newsstand and a place

         17  where somebody would want to put a newsstand. I

         18  mean, right now, my guess would be the best

         19  locations for newsstands in the City are already

         20  taken.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Yes.  In the

         22  previous testimony mention was made of at least

         23  $30,000 needed to erect a newsstand to

         24  specification.  Now the $1,076 that you mentioned in

         25  your testimony for the construction, I mean the cost

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  of a license or the spot, is it in addition to the

          3  construction costs?

          4                 MR. EILER:  Oh, absolutely, that is

          5  the two- year license fee that a licensee pays, so

          6  it's $538 a year is basically the license fee for

          7  operating a newsstand.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I'm sorry,

         10  how many applications, how many people in the last

         11  year applied for applications for newsstands?

         12                 MR. EILER:  I'm sorry, I do not have

         13  the figure.  I gave the figure for what is pending,

         14  but I do not have the figure for how many were done

         15  this year.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  How about the

         17  year before?

         18                 MR. EILER:  I don't have it broken

         19  down by years, I just have what is currently

         20  pending.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Would you say

         22  there is a lot?

         23                 MR. EILER:  Are there a lot of

         24  applications, new ones?  I don't think there is a

         25  lot.  I mean, given the fact that there is, I don't
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          2  recall, is it 29 new applications, as I said in the

          3  testimony, that are the ones that have applied for

          4  new locations, and that is what is pending, that is

          5  being processed right now through all the approvals.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  So out of a

          7  City of eight million people, they're literally not

          8  breaking down the door to become newsstand

          9  operators.

         10                 MR. EILER:  There is not a - -

         11  right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I'm going to

         13  tell you a story that I told before.  It was a

         14  holiday, I believe it was Columbus Day and I was

         15  standing by a subway handing out literature. And

         16  there is a newsstand by the subway station and it

         17  was closed that day.  And I wish I had a dollar for

         18  every face that was so disappointed that that

         19  newsstand was closed, because people really count on

         20  newsstands when they're going to a subway, and those

         21  newsstands and as the newspapers testified before,

         22  they sell most of their newspapers at a newsstand,

         23  that people just like a newsstand.

         24                 MR. EILER:  I agree, I do the same

         25  thing.  I mean, I expect a newsstand to be open
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          2  where it usually is.  I buy my newspapers there, and

          3  if it is not open, you know, it just disrupts my

          4  whole schedule.  You know, there is no question

          5  about that, because this is something that one does

          6  habitually, you just get used to it, you want that

          7  thing to be there, no question about it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well it just

          9  seems a shame that every time we have to change

         10  something, they have to come before the Committee

         11  when it's really a nickel and dime sort of business.

         12                 And as I said before also, you have

         13  the fruit stands that, you know, now sell flowers

         14  and they sell other, you know, merchandise that they

         15  do not have to go through any red tape, they decide

         16  to sell flowers and that is what they sell.  And

         17  most of the fruit and vegetable stands do that.

         18                 MR. EILER:  Well they have to have a

         19  license for the stand and then they have to operate

         20   - -

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Right, and

         22  they can - -

         23                 MR. EILER: - -  the stand within the

         24  limitations of what the law allows them to sell from

         25  the fruit stands and whatever.
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          2                 I mean, right now, the real

          3  limitation is the two dollar cap, because there is

          4  not a whole lot that one can sell now for two

          5  dollars, not counting taxes.  So the food stands are

          6  unlimited in what they can sell, but there are

          7  limitations, they cannot hang goods on the side and

          8  all the rest of that stuff, because the minute that

          9  one were to expand, and this is the thing that we

         10  get with sidewalk stands, you take up the sidewalk

         11  by using the sidewalk to display wears and so forth

         12  and so on.  And when that happens then we get the

         13  issue from the other side, the sidewalk space is

         14  obstructed and people cannot go by and do this and

         15  do that, so forth and so on.

         16                 So the sidewalk space used for

         17  newsstands is a very, you know, is a vital, is a

         18  property or sidewalk space that is important to a

         19  lot of people for a lot things.  And we have

         20  competing interests that we have to deal with here

         21  all the time.

         22                 And that is part of the reason why

         23  you have the approval process and everything else.

         24  You have to balance all the different forces that

         25  come to work, come into play when you deal with - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well, you

          3  know, I just feel that, you know, these men work

          4  very, very hard in all kinds of weather, and I

          5  certainly feel that they're entitled, you know, to

          6  protect themselves.  You know at the end of the day

          7  that they can feel like all their years of working

          8  out in the cold and the heat, you know, they can see

          9  something at the end.

         10                 MR. EILER:  Well, if the issue were

         11  simply the protecting in some form of the individual

         12  license holder within the context of the purpose of

         13  the program, that might be something one could look

         14  at.

         15                 But this is not, I mean the way the

         16  bill is right now, it's not limited to that kind of

         17  purpose, it's a free wheeling, once it's done it

         18  changes the whole scope of it.  It's not limited to

         19  protecting the current individual natural person

         20  from those kinds of things and for no other purpose.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

         22  Thank you very much.

         23                 Before we continue, I would like to

         24  call on, Kathryn Freed to vote on Proposed Intro.

         25  821- A.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Thank you very

          3  much, and I'm just very glad that we're actually

          4  giving this industry some relief.  It has been a

          5  long time since they actually got some increases,

          6  and I think that they're definitely due.  So I'm

          7  pleased to vote aye.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  The vote reads

         10  5 in the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         11  abstentions.  The item is adopted.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

         13                 I would like to call Robert Bookman.

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN:  Thank you.  Just that a

         15  normal process would have been, we would have heard

         16  the Administration's testimony, then provided ours.

         17  So I provided them with a copy of ours.

         18                 I just want to respond to a few of

         19  the points because I'm, frankly, confused concerning

         20  the reason for the Administration's opposition to a

         21  portion of this bill.

         22                 It was stated that the difference

         23  between not allowing a corporate ownership here, but

         24  allowing corporate ownerships in all other license

         25  categories is that here we have a piece of public

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  sidewalk that is involved.  And the Administration's

          3  witness says that is not true for any other license

          4  category.

          5                 But that is clearly not the case.  As

          6  I stated in my testimony, there are every other

          7  private, commercial use of the public sidewalk that

          8  the City regulates is, has corporate ownership from

          9  sidewalk cafes both enclosed and unenclosed to these

         10  fruit and vegetable stands, to the thousands of

         11  telephone booths, which you see going up all over

         12  the City, and even food vendor carts, so both

         13  permanent and non- permanent structures on the

         14  sidewalk, both mobile and non- mobile, physical

         15  structures, non- physical structures.

         16                 The only category, the only public,

         17  commercial use of the public sidewalks that does not

         18  allow for corporate ownership, that has this natural

         19  person business are sidewalk newsstands.  And I have

         20  yet to hear a good public policy reason why the City

         21  does not seem to have any problems with giving that

         22  piece of sidewalk to a telephone booth forever, and

         23  they can change corporations, and they are big

         24  corporations, they're not "mom and pop"

         25  corporations, you know, with the maximum of two
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          2  telephones per corporation.  They are the mega

          3  companies of the world and want to add up the amount

          4  of sidewalk space that is being taken up by

          5  telephones, by these double and triple phones and

          6  compare it to the 304 sidewalk newsstands, I would

          7  venture to say that there is considerably more

          8  public sidewalk space taken by those corporations

          9  than the sidewalk newsstands.

         10                 Secondly, Consumer Affairs does not

         11  seem to be confused with the process of issuing

         12  licenses to corporations in any of its other

         13  thousands and thousands and thousands of licensees.

         14  It knows how to do the job.  If somebody wants to

         15  hide ownership and violate the law, they can hide

         16  ownership and violate the law whether they're a sole

         17  proprietorship, whether they're a partnership or a

         18  corporation, we do not regulate based on worrying

         19  that some people might want to violate the law, that

         20  is what government enforcement is about.

         21                 Consumer Affairs has an extensive

         22  application process with everybody who owns any

         23  share, 10 percent or more of any corporation of any

         24  of their thousands of licensees has to disclose

         25  that, and it is a requirement that they fulfill now.
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          2    So it is not complicated, this language was the

          3  law for a year and it worked well.  It is the law

          4  now for food carts, the Department of Health

          5  licenses food carts with the exact same language as

          6  we have here, exact same language word for word,

          7  because that is where this language was taken from

          8  in 1997, it was the food law and it is still the

          9  law, so it does not seem to be very complicated.

         10  The City has experience with it for many, many years

         11  now.

         12                 As I said, DCA handles it with

         13  thousands of other categories, so I really don't see

         14  the problem.

         15                 The provisions of the 1997 law, by

         16  the way, that were repealed that this Intro. Does

         17  not re- establish, actually does the very same

         18  things that the Administration is concerned about

         19  saying that they did not want to happen, that was

         20  corporate ownership, and that was mega corporations

         21  coming in to operate sidewalk newsstands with

         22  individuals bidding for long- term leases and being

         23  able to, you know, really, then under corporate

         24  guise transfer ownership from one person to another.

         25    That is not what we're going to have here.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 You know newsstand owners are small

          3   "mom and pop" operators, they do not have corporate

          4  pension plans, they do not have government pension

          5  plans, they do not have 401K's, what they have is

          6  their business.  And somebody who has constructed a

          7  newsstand from their own monies, paid license fees

          8  year after year and is slowing down in life after 30

          9  years of operation and wants to have a lawful

         10  partnership or bring in somebody in a corporate

         11  structure so that they can something to rely on in

         12  their old age, I do not see that as a terrible

         13  public policy.

         14                 I do not know what the City Council

         15  1914, 90 some odd years ago, wanted for sidewalk

         16  newsstands.  But I know that in the year 2001, if we

         17  want sidewalk newsstands, we need to make them

         18  profitable, and I appreciate their support for that

         19  portion of the bill, but we also need to make them

         20  attractive as a business that can be owned.  And

         21  corporate ownership, "mom and pop" corporate

         22  ownership makes them attractive.

         23                 Finally, there is no sidewalk

         24  newsstand waiting list in the sidewalk newsstand

         25  law, it does not exist.  What the law does say, and
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          2  there is a provision dating to the 1950's that

          3  states when they are competing applications for a

          4  certain location, a preference in granting a license

          5  shall be shown.  This was when newsstands were owned

          6  by handicapped, blind and veterans groups who were

          7  handing over the operations of the stands to City

          8  government, they did not want to be in that business

          9  any longer.  It was never intended to be used as a

         10  means to limit transferring one's own business or

         11  forming operating partnerships.

         12                 In fact, how can such a waiting list

         13  work when it comes to newsstands?  It cannot work

         14  because we own the private structures.  So Council

         15  asked the question, when you do transfer a newsstand

         16  through the waiting list, how does the existing

         17  operator get compensated?  I'm not aware of any

         18  procedure that allows for that.

         19                 What would be the procedure?  You

         20  choose who I'm going to sell to, and what is the

         21  price?  If I can only sell to that person, then I

         22  guess the price is one dollar, because otherwise the

         23  person is not going to pay any more than that.

         24                 The estimate of one to two newsstands

         25  a year being transferred pursuant to this so- called
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          2  waiting list, is probably an optimistic estimate.

          3  I'm not aware in the last two years of a single

          4  newsstand offering going out to the waiting list

          5  that keep, not a single one.  And if I'm mistaken

          6  and if there is one per year, well, that is hardly

          7  an active, you know, an active policy, procedure

          8  that is going on here, you know, in Consumer

          9  Affairs.

         10                 The problem is that they have

         11  contorted the agency for many, many years, the prior

         12  Administrations have contorted around this concept

         13  and tried to create a concept of a waiting list even

         14  though it does not exist in the law as a method of

         15  stopping corporate ownership.  But there is no

         16  public policy reason for it, there is no system, it

         17  does not work.

         18                 This law makes sense, it made sense

         19  in 1997 when you passed it, and it still makes sense

         20  today.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

         23  Any questions? Thank you very much.  This meeting is

         24  adjourned.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 12:10 p.m.)
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